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Chair’s Message 

By: Jim Farrell 

While not over, 2024 has been a year of fierce extreme weather events, from severe wildfire in the BC 
interior and western Alberta, including the tragic losses suffered by Jasper, to the damaging flooding 
in Southern Ontario and Quebec. As I compose this, our US neighbours are waking up to the impacts 
of yet another brutal hurricane that hammered the southeast, particularly Florida, while other US 
regions saw severe flooding, a barrage of damaging tornadoes, and ongoing wildfires in the west. 
From a historical perspective, these events not only alter landscapes, destroy infrastructure and 
damage livelihoods, they ramp up human anxiety and erode the mental health of all those affected. 
While history has always been a reliable guide for the future, it may not be the case in a changing 
climate, but it is absolutely essential that history be recorded…even in the face of such overwhelming 
adversity and I salute those who continue to chronicle it.  

After our successful panel at the February Forests Ontario conference, we hosted our fifth forest 
history field tour, this time in the Guelph, Ontario area. A full description of this tour is posted on our 
website Guelph Area Forest and Conservation History Tour - June 14, 2024 (fhso.ca), in the 
September issue of The Ontario Woodlander Woodlander-116.pdf (elfsightcdn.com), and in this 
issue of Forestory, starting on page 22. In summary, it was both educational and fun learning about a 
number of the small gems of remnant (almost) forests carefully protected across the south that our 
tour leader and organizer, Terry Schwan, R.P.F. (Ret.) has explored over his many years practicing 
forestry in the region.  

The FHO has played a role in encouraging Annual Meetings/Conferences of the Canadian Institute of 
Forestry to include some forest history elements and this year in St John’s in September was no 
exception. We contributed to a very high-level overview presentation of the history of forest 
protection across Canada…a topic that warrants an entire book...or two.  

Over the summer some of us members worked with the OWA and Forests Ontario to draft articles 
for a special edition of The Woodlander magazine entirely dedicated to forest history. Our package 
of six articles includes: a history of the Ontario Provincial Air Service which celebrated its 100

th
 

anniversary this year; a history of federal forestry celebrating 125 years in 2024; a history of the 
Canadian Forestry Association; and, a special feature on the history of the first honorary lifetime 
member of the OWA…you will have to wait until the publication comes our to learn who this is. 

Work is progressing well on the drafting of The Tembec Story with a writing team led by Mark 
Kuhlberg at Laurentian University. One of Mark’s graduate students has authoured a paper in this 
issue of Forestory…check it out on page 13. We are in the process of updating our website to make it 
more user friendly and facilitate the inclusion of more material. A number of members are exploring 
the treasure trove of pictures and related records from the former Ontario Forest Insect and Disease 
Survey, stored at the Great Lakes Forestry Centre in Sault Ste Marie.  

The Forest History Society, headquartered at Duke University in North 
Carolina, is joining the Canadian Forest Service (CFS) to help celebrate its 
125

th
 anniversary by holding its national Board meeting in Ottawa from 

October 24-26. They are hosting a reception as part of this and FHO is 
invited to join and make a short presentation. I will provide a brief 
overview of FHO as well as the other forest history organizations in Canada 
and provide a very brief overview of CFS history. The last time FHS visited 
Ottawa was in 2006. Expect to see a short report and some pictures on our 
website shortly. 

Planning is just getting started for our virtual Annual Meeting 2025 and 

(Continued on page 4) 

https://www.fhso.ca/research-explore/moments-in-history/guelph-area-forest-and-conservation-history-tour-june-14-2024
https://files.elfsightcdn.com/eafe4a4d-3436-495d-b748-5bdce62d911d/8d4826b2-5ff3-4964-a2de-95e8d25977cf/Woodlander-116.pdf
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our presence at the Forests Ontario conference on February 20
.
 Our next Forest History Field Tour is 

planned for Dufferin County in June, 2025…more to come on this.  

As you know, this is an entirely volunteer organization, and nothing would happen without them. 
Thank you to all of you, particularly Caroline Mach, R.P.F., our dedicated and productive editor of this 
journal, who recently retired but remains fully engaged. I invite you all to settle in and enjoy another 
great read.  

 

 

Facebook: http://www.facebook.com/forest.history.society.of.ontario 

X: https://x.com/FHSOntario 

(Continued from page 3) 

http://www.facebook.com/forest.history.society.of.ontario
https://twitter.com/FHSOntario
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Victor Gilbert, B.A., B.Sc.F.: He Wasn’t Just a Name in 
an Accident Report 

By: Alastair I. Reeves 
 
In the late afternoon hours of August 16, 1924, the newly formed Ontario Provincial Air Service 
(OPAS) suffered its first two fatalities in an aircraft crash. One of their lumbering Curtiss HS-2L flying 
boats — Number 6, registered as G-CAOC — crashed on approach to Lac des Mille Lacs in the 
vicinity of Savanne, Ontario. Two crewmembers, the air engineer and a forest observer died from 
injuries suffered in this crash.  

As often is the case with aviation historians, the life history of the pilot is researched in exacting detail 
while aircrew and others tend to be overlooked. With this in mind, what do we know of the forest 
observer who was killed? 

Memories fogged by the passing of decades have even given this gentleman an erroneous name, a 
name that should be corrected before it is accidently passed down through research papers and 
books. In his book Firebirds, the story of the Ontario Provincial Air Service, Bruce West lists the name 
of the forest observer as Dick Gilbert.

1 
In reference to this 1924 crash, Jack C. Dillon in his booklet 

Early Days has his name recorded as N. Gilbert.
2 
Fred McClement in his book The Flaming Forests 

names him Norman Gilbert.
3 
Even an editorial note of explanation added to George H. R. Philips’ 

article An OPAS Legend Tells His Story in the Journal of the Canadian Aviation Historical Society 
(Vol. 41 No. 2 Summer 2003, page 49) lists this gentleman with the wrong initials. 

The forest observer’s name was actually Albert Victor Gilbert, “Vic” to his friends. 

As one of five children born to Albert and Margeret (sic) Todd Gilbert, Vic came into this world on 
June 22, 1889.

4
 Although born at Seeley’s Bay on the Rideau Canal he attended his public schooling 

in Kingston, Ontario. By 1911, he had graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree from Queen’s 
University, Kingston. To refresh our memories, forestry was only accepted as an academic science in 
Canada in 1908 with the establishment of Faculties of Forestry at the University of Toronto and the 
University of New Brunswick. L’Université Laval instituted their Faculty of Forestry in 1910.  

It was during his summer vacations while attending Queen’s University that Vic began his association 
with the Dominion Forest Service working under the direction of such notable Canadian foresters as: 

Clyde Leavitt, H. R. MacMillan, George 
H. Edgecombe and Roland D. Craig. 
These foresters were at the cutting 
edge and shaped the future of 
Canadian forest policy.  

In his days at Queen’s University, Vic 
was known as an athlete. He excelled 
as a hockey goaltender and played 
goal for the Queen’s University Allan 
Cup winning team of 1909. The Allan 
Cup is to amateur hockey what the 
Stanley Cup is to professional hockey. 
Reputed to be the best amateur 
goaltender of his time, he played for 
Queen’s University Gaels (1908 - 
1910), Cliffsides of Ottawa (1911 -
1912), and the Toronto Argonauts 

(Continued on page 6) 

The Tête Jaune Forestry Office in 1913. (Source: Tourist Book for 
Prince George and District) 
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(1914 -1916).
5
 Although he stood 

only 5 foot 7 inches tall, he was 
also an outstanding basketball and 
baseball player. 

Upon graduation in 1911, Vic 
joined the ranks of the Dominion 
Forest Service working out of 
Ottawa. At this time, the Dominion 
Forest Service was responsible for 
the protection and administration 
of all federally controlled land that 
contained forests. This included: 
the National Parks and the vast 
Dominion Forest Reserves held 
within each province of Canada; the 
CPR Railway Belt running through 
British Columbia, all of the 
Northwest Territories and the 
Yukon; the prairie provinces until 
1930; North Ontario, or the land to 
the north of Lac Seul – Albany River 
system; and, the North-East 
Territory which was Québec north 
of the height of land for the St. 
Lawrence River drainage system. 

When Harold R. MacMillan — later 
to form the international lumber 
giant, MacMillan Bloedel Ltd. — left 
the Dominion Forest Service to 
organize the British Columbia Forest 
Service, Vic Gilbert was handpicked 
to accompany him. Gilbert was 
assigned to work in the Tête Jaune 
District and — in a forestry context 
— this became his baptism by fire. 
Situated at the western opening of 
the Yellowhead Pass through the 
Rocky Mountains, Tête Jaune 
District was a hive of activity and the enforcement proving ground for the fire prevention regulations 
enacted under the newly promulgated British Columbia Forest Act (1912). 

Clyde Leavitt in his 1912 report as head of Fire Safety for the Railway Board of Commissioners, 
Dominion Commission of Conservation, stated: “It is a truism that railways are the most frequent 
cause of fires in any timber areas through which they pass”.

6
 Vic Gilbert found this statement true for 

he found himself embroiled in enforcing these new fire prevention regulations on the right-away 
clearing and construction work of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway. Due to a careless attitude towards 
fire prevention practices previously demonstrated by this company, massive forest fires were caused 
in the Tête Jaune – McBride section of the railway during the 1912 fire season.

7
 Rigorous 

enforcement of the Fire Prevention Regulations under the British Columbia Forest Act (1912) and also 
the federal Railroad Act (1903) dramatically reduced these man-made fire occurrences during the 
1913 fire season.  

(Continued from page 5) 

(Continued on page 7) 

Area around Tête Jaune Cache, British Columbia, near the western 
opening of the Yellowhead Pass through the Rockies. Photo shows 
massive burns in the background. Year of photo was 1912 or 1913. 

(Source: www.prairie-towns.com Tête Jaune Cache Images)  

End of steel, 1913, McBride, British Columbia on the Grand Trunk 
Pacific railway. This was the northern limits of the Tête Jaune District 

in which Victor Gilbert worked. Note the burned mountain slopes as a 
result of escaped fires during the construction of the railway. Gilbert 

was tasked with enforcing the fire prevention regulations in this area. 
(Source: www.prairie-towns.com McBride Images) 
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During the off-season for fires in Tête Jaune District, Vic 
conducted land assessment along the proposed right-of-
way of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway — from the B.C./ 
Alberta border, following the Fraser River down the 
Robson Valley to Fort George (later to be renamed Prince 
George). In this role he assisted the Dominion Forester, 
George H. Edgecombe.

8
 Although yet to be realized to 

this day, it was at this time that the controversial flood 
reserve for a ‘future’ hydroelectric dam in the Longworth 
Canyon on the upper Fraser River was established. If, or 
when, this dam is established, water from the Upper 
Fraser River system could be easily diverted into the 
Columbia River system and thus southward to supply 
badly needed water to Southern California.

9 
 

In the fall of 1913, Vic Gilbert left employment with the 
BC Forest Service to enter the Faculty of Forestry, 
University of Toronto. He graduated in 1916 with the 
degree of Bachelor of Science in Forestry. While studying 
forestry at U of T, his summer vacations were again spent 
working for the Dominion Forest Service, this time in 
charge of crews conducting forest reconnaissance in 
Northern Manitoba and Saskatchewan.

10
 

With the First World War raging in Europe, Vic became a 
member of the Canadian Officers Training Corps 
(C.O.T.C.) while at the University of Toronto, where he 
secured the rank of a provisional Lieutenant with the 36

th
 

Peel Regiment of Ontario.
11

 Hospitalized with an attack of 
appendicitis during his final semester in 1916, Vic missed 
the scheduled military training course before shipping 
overseas. Here the trail goes cold as to why he didn’t 
continue on with this Army regiment. 

On
 
August 8, 1916, Vic enlisted in the Canadian Over-

Seas Expeditionary Force.
12

 On his enlistment papers, his trade is listed as ‘graduate forester’. With a 
Regimental Number of 1036464, Victor Gilbert was given the rank of Quarter Master Sergeant and 
assigned to the 238th Battalion, Canadian Forestry Corps.

13
 

At this point one is given a pause to ponder; on trying to enlist, Vic was apparently rejected by both 
the Artillery and the Infantry for failing to pass the required medical exam.

14
 Remember, he was a star 

athlete and a competent field forester used to wilderness camping and hard physical work. 
Speculation is that the examining doctors detected respiratory problems, possibly the early stages of 
tuberculosis, a common but deadly disease of the day. 

After enlistment, he sailed immediately for England as part of the contingent of 44 officers and 1082 
other ranks from the Ontario region that made up the 238 Battalion, Canadian Forestry Corps.

15
 He 

served with the Forestry Corps in Northern England until October 1917. 

In October of 1917, Vic was successful in obtaining his transfer into the Royal Navy Air Service 
(RNAS).

16
 The University of Toronto, Roll of Service, states that as of January 1918, Victor Gilbert was 

a ‘Provisional Flight Officer’ with the RNAS.
17

 An unreferenced newspaper clipping in Vic’s student file 
at the University of Toronto indicates, as of March 14, 1918, he was still in the RNAS. 

Thus, it is recorded that Vic entered training as a pilot with the RNAS, but it remains unclear as to 

(Continued from page 6) 

(Continued on page 8) 

Recruiting poster for the 238th Canadian 
Forestry Battalion, Canadian Forestry Corps, 
First World War. (Source: www.mccord-
museum.qc.ca/scripts/large.php?
Lang=1&accessnumber=ANC-
C95386&imageID=292236) 

http://www.mccord-museum.qc.ca/scripts/large.php?Lang=1&accessnumber=ANC-C95386&imageID=292236
http://www.mccord-museum.qc.ca/scripts/large.php?Lang=1&accessnumber=ANC-C95386&imageID=292236
http://www.mccord-museum.qc.ca/scripts/large.php?Lang=1&accessnumber=ANC-C95386&imageID=292236
http://www.mccord-museum.qc.ca/scripts/large.php?Lang=1&accessnumber=ANC-C95386&imageID=292236
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whether or not he completed all of his pilot’s training. From the remembrances of George H. R. 
Phillips (1931 McKee Trophy winner and later, the ‘Flying’ Superintendent of Ontario’s Algonquin 
Park), in 1924 Vic was — like himself — both a forest observer and a student pilot with the Ontario 
Provincial Air Service (most likely classified as a “Junior B pilot — under instruction”).

18 & 19 
Thus, 

based on Phillips’ recollections, and the guidelines presented in endnote number 19, it is speculated 
that Victor Gilbert successfully completed his initial RNAS pilot training course and had embarked on 
the advanced training course on flying boats.  

Another mystery creeps into Gilbert’s file. Sometime in the spring or early summer of 1918, he was 
invalided to Canada and discharged as ‘unfit for further military service’. Doctors gave him six months 
to live.

20
 Often a diagnosis of ‘six months to live’ indicated a severe case of tuberculosis. A 1922 

article in the British Medical Journal indicated that the survival rate for severe cases of tuberculosis in 
1917, even when the patient was under direct medical care in a sanatorium, was less than 20%. 

21 & 22 

Vic proved the doctors wrong. 

By the summer of 1918, Vic’s health improved enough for him to again commence work as a forester 
with the Dominion Commission of Conservation under the famous Canadian forester, Clyde Leavitt. 
His direct supervisor at this time was again (Major) George H. Edgecombe, the man he worked under 
in Tête Jaune District of British Columbia.

23
 

1920 found Vic Gilbert working directly with Roland D. Craig and George H. Edgecombe conducting a 
forest survey of the Temiskaming area of Ontario.

24
 It was at this point that these progressive 

foresters pushed for the use of Civil Air Board aircraft to conduct aerial timber reconnaissance, and 
where the first documented aerial timber sketch mapping 
took place.

25
 It is a known fact that both Craig and 

Edgecombe sketched timber types and the extent of a 
spruce budworm insect infestation from a Dominion 
government’s Curtiss HS -2L flying boat. With the 
sketching of this insect outbreak, Canada entered the 
record books as the first country to use aircraft in order to 
delineate an insect infestation.

26
 From the information 

available, it is speculated by the author that Vic flew as an 
observer on at least one of these flights.  

Roland D. Craig and George H. Edgecombe were two of 
the Dominion Foresters who were instrumental in the push 
to have the Ontario Department of Lands and Forests form 
their own air service to carry out aerial forest operations 
within the province. Subsequently, in 1924, the province 
formed the Ontario Provincial Air Service (OPAS).

27 
 

In February of 1921, Vic Gilbert resigned from the 
Commission of Conservation to accept a three-year post as 
Reader with the Christian Science Church in Kingston, 
Ontario.

28
 Although no longer practicing forestry, he kept 

in close contact with former colleagues. The allure of ‘the 
bush’ was always there and Vic took the opportunity in 
1922 to write an article for The Illustrated Canadian Forest 
and Outdoors on forest fire protection in Algonquin Park.  

Over the years Vic gained a reputation in the forestry 
world as a man of integrity with a keenness to see a thing 
through to the end for its own sake. 

On formation of the OPAS, Vic was again enticed back into 

(Continued from page 7) 

(Continued on page 9) 

An engine overhaul on one of the Ontario 
Provincial Air Service Curtiss HS-2L aircraft at 
Whitney Air Base, Algonquin Park, 1922. 
Victor Gilbert stands on the far right. 
(Source: The Early Days by J. C. Dillon © 
1961. Photo from the back cover.) 
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the forestry world. It is not difficult to see why Vic 
— with his broad forestry knowledge, fire 
suppression experience and key associations with 
prominent and influential foresters — was chosen 
to be part of the original contingent of 16 forest 
observers assigned to work with the OPAS.

29
 The 

majority of the original OPAS forest observers, in 
addition to their degree in forestry, had wartime 
flying experience and many of them went on to 
become pilots with the OPAS.  

With the Curtiss HS-2L pilot fully occupied in 
mastering the idiosyncrasies of these 
temperamental flying boats, the forest observers 
sitting out in the exposed front cockpit handled the 
technical forestry details in-flight as well as the 
navigation of the aircraft. The forest observers were 
not along just for the ride. Safety aside, it was the 
foresters who directed the pilots in their 
assignments — and authorized the payment of the 
bills, including the pilots wages. 

On fire patrols the forest observer was expected to 
obtain all pertinent details of any fire spotted: exact 
location; size; probable rate of spread; direction of 
spread; timber type the fire was burning in; 

availability of water for fire pumps; distance from water to the fire; size of suppression crew required 
to contain the fire; quickest access for ground crews; and, the probable cause of the fire.  

The other tasks these early forest observers undertook while flying were: general forest 
reconnaissance; assessment of hydroelectric potential; timber type mapping; daily fire progress 
mapping; insect surveys and mapping; and, aerial photography. It must be remembered that at this 
period, foresters were required to do a full resource inventory during this forest reconnaissance. As is 
clearly seen in a review of the yearly reports submitted by the Ontario Department of Lands and 
Forest for the period 1915-1920, these reconnaissance reports included not only an assessment of 
the forest resources and logging potential, but also wildlife assessment for both recreational hunting 
and trapping of fur bearing animals, basic geological assessment and potential, agricultural potential, 
hydroelectric potential and, tourism potential. Placed directly under the supervision of the future 
OPAS Director, R. N. ‘Reg’ Johnston — himself a graduate forester and First World War pilot — the 
forest observers were to: “carry out their jobs in such a manner that there could be no criticism from 
any ground staff”.

30
 Neither the pilot nor the air engineer were qualified to carry out any of the tasks 

of a forest observer; so, as they say, each to their own specialty. 

In the late afternoon of 14 August 1924, two OPAS H-boats (a name commonly applied to the Curtiss 
HS-2L flying boat) were undertaking a search for a third OPAS H-boat, piloted by Duke Schiller, that 
was overdue on a return flight from Sioux Lookout that took him southeast to Pakashkan Lake, then 
in a southerly direction towards Savanne.

31
 The OPAS H-boats, with their temperamental 400 hp 

Liberty engines, had a dismal record of forced landings with many crews destined to spend miserable 
days discussing the facts of life with the clouds of black flies while trying to repair the aircraft’s 
engine. There is a lot of truth in Wade Hemsworth’s The Blackfly Song.  

Just prior to the take-off of the two search planes, Victor Gilbert asked to switch places with George 
Phillips, the forest observer in the other aircraft: the switch was made.

32
 

Thus, the two search planes were crewed as follows: Ed Burton, pilot, with a crew consisting of air 

(Continued from page 8) 

(Continued on page 10) 

OPAS staff at the Sioux Lookout base, 1924. Victor 
Gilbert stands on the lower wing, second from the 
right. Pilot Ed Burton sits directly below him on the 
fuselage. George Philips is on the fuselage with his 
arms around Shelbourne. The author speculates that 
Ken McBride stands to the left of Vic Gilbert in the 
photo. The aircraft pictured is one of the OPAS’s 
Curtiss HS-2L, commonly referred to as an “H-Boat”.  
(Source: An OPAS Legend Tells His Story by George 
Phillips, The Journal of the CAHS, Vol. 41 No. 2, 
Summer 2003, page 48.) 
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engineer and pilot-under-
instruction Ken McBride and forest 
observer, Victor Gilbert; the other 
OPAS search aircraft was piloted by 
Pat Moloney with a crew of E. (Bill) 
Billington as air engineer and 
George Phillips as forest observer. 
The plan was that one of the flying 
boats would search the shoreline 
along the eastern side of 
Pakashkan Lake for Schillers 
downed aircraft while the other 
would cover the western side of 
the lake, with both aircraft 
eventually ending their search at 
Savanne. All lake shores along a 
wide route were to be 
systematically searched for 
Schiller’s missing aircraft. 

Nearing their landing at Lac des Mill Lacs, George Phillips 
spotted a crashed aircraft but was unable to communicate 
this information to the pilot until after their landing. It was 
the Curtiss HS-2L, G-CAOC, in which Victor Gilbert was the 
forest observer, that had crashed on the landing approach 
to Lac des Mille Lacs. It was dark before the rescue crews 
reached the wreckage of the downed H-boat. Both Gilbert 
and McBride were unconscious; pilot Ed Burton was barely 
conscious.

33
 The injured men were taken to Savanne in 

forest-made stretchers. Ken McBride died in Savanne. 
Albert Victor Gilbert, aged 35, died on the train that was 
taking him and Ed Burton to medical facilities in Port 
Arthur. 

In the subsequent crash investigation of the OPAS HS-2L, 
G-CAOC, it was determined that: “Flying conditions were 
still unfavourable and a strong gusting wind was blowing. 
The pilot had shut off his engine (power) and was gliding 
down towards the surface of the lake when he lost control 
of his machine in a violent bump, side slipping and fell, 
reaching the ground before he could regain control.”

34
 

The air engineer and pilot-under-instruction, Kenneth A. 
McBride, aged 20, was from Brantford Ontario.

35
 Ken 

McBride was the son of Morrison M. McBride, Mayor of 
Brantford and a longstanding M.P.P. (Conservative-Labour) for the Brantford riding.

36 
 

Although severely injured in the crash, pilot Ed Burton survived and lived to fly again.  

Albert Victor Gilbert, B.A., B.Sc.F., is buried in Kingston, Ontario. 

 

Endnotes and References: 
1) West, B., Firebirds, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources © 1974: Page 75. 
2) Dillon, J. C., Early Days, Ontario Department of Lands and Forests, ©1961: Page 29. 

(Continued from page 9) 

(Continued on page 11) 

Curtiss HS-2L flying boat, registered as G-CAOC, number 6, moored at 
Orient Bay on Lake Nipigon during the spring of 1924. This OPAS 
aircraft crashed on August 16, 1924, killing Kenneth A. McBride and A. 
Victor Gilbert. (Source: An OPAS Legend Tells His Story by George 
Phillips, The Journal of the CAHS, Vol. 41 No. 2, Summer 2003, page 49.) 

The wreckage of G-COAC in the bush near 
Savanne, Ontario. (Source: The Firebirds by 
Bruce West. © 1974 page 80.) 
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By: Chelsea Clingen 

Frank A. MacDougall, also known as the “Flying Superintendent,” has been well-recognized for his 
pivotal role in developing aerial forestry in Ontario. From 1922 to 1966, MacDougall served the 
province in various roles. He first made his mark patrolling Algonquin Park for ten years as the first 
Flying Superintendent.

1 
Then, in 1941, he acted as the Deputy Minister of the Department of Lands 

and Forests (Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry today) for twenty-five years.  

MacDougall is especially well known for his many aerial accomplishments. For example, in 1964, he 
was awarded Canada’s highest aviation honour, the McKee Trophy. It recognized the central role that 
he had played in developing and expanding the Ontario Provincial Air Service, which has long been 
recognized as a world leader in the field of aerial firefighting. MacDougall was also inducted into the 
Canadian Aviation Hall of Fame in 1974, with 6,000 hours in his pilot’s log by the time he reached the 
age of 70.

2
 In 1973, MacDougall was named Companion to the Order of Flight in Alberta, and the 

next year he was appointed to the Brotherhood of the Silver Wings of the Northwest Territories.
3
  

As impressive as these accomplishments are, however, one of his achievements has often been 
overlooked, namely the reforestation project he undertook in the “Kirkwood Prairie.” It was a 
remarkable operation, and it helped kick-start his career. Between 1928 and 1931, he oversaw the 
planting of approximately two million seedlings each year. The massive role MacDougall played in 
re-establishing the woodlands in this part of Ontario was a feat that should be celebrated. 
MacDougall deserves recognition for each of his accomplishments, but especially for his work to re-
establish the Kirkwood Forest.  

* 

Frank A. MacDougall was born in Toronto on 16 June 1896, and was raised in Carleton Place, Ontario. 
In his youth, he became an expert paddler as a member of the Carleton Place Canadian 
championship war canoe team in 1913 and 1914. MacDougall then served in the Great War with the 
9

th
 Battery in France. He fought in the Battle of Vimy Ridge and the Battle of Passchendaele, 

returning to Canada on 16 June 1919 after suffering the effects of a gas attack.
4
 

With damaged lungs, MacDougall was advised to seek a career that would keep him in the fresh air, 
and forestry turned out to be his calling. He began working for Ontario’s Department of Lands and 
Forests, first stationed at Pembroke as an Assistant Forester until he was sent to work in James Bay. 
While on that assignment, he observed the Great Fire of 1922 around Haileybury, which killed over 
40 persons. The experience also gave MacDougall his first taste of aerial forestry, as he was a 
member of the ground crew on the province’s inaugural combined ground and aerial survey of the 
James Bay region in 1922. It was while resting one day among the mosquitoes and the blackflies on 
the caribou moss that MacDougall gazed up at a passing HS2L flying boat. In doing so, he remarked 
to a companion, “I’m going to fly one of those damned things some day.” MacDougall began to train 
as a pilot, convinced that forestry and flying were complementary activities.

5
 

MacDougall secured a permanent place on the Department’s payroll after he earned his Bachelor of 
Science in Forestry from the University of Toronto in 1923. Initially assigned to be the Assistant 
District Forester in the Algonquin District, in 1926 he was transferred to Sault Ste. Marie, where he 
would serve for seven years as its District Forester. This was a match made in heaven for MacDougall, 
as the Ontario Provincial Air Services (OPAS) had chosen the Soo for its headquarters. MacDougall 
began using the OPAS’s aircraft for fire patrols and considering the possibilities of its fleet of planes 
for more aerial forestry. This was revolutionary, as previously, forest fires had been detected by 
ground patrols or by persons in canoes and boats. MacDougall’s time at the OPAS also allowed him 
to become a skilled pilot, gaining his commercial pilot’s licence in 1930. He earned it at the perfect 
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time, as in 1931 MacDougall was appointed Superintendent of Algonquin Park and District Forester 
of the area. This led to a new approach to administering the park, as MacDougall began utilizing 
bushplanes to patrol his 2,700-square mile domain. He flew almost daily, all year round.

6
 

For his first plane, MacDougall flew in a Fairchild KR-34, an open cockpit biplane that is on display at 
the Canadian Bushplane Heritage Centre in the Soo. According to MacDougall, the use of the aircraft 
had “shrunken the park area … to about the size of a good big farm.”

7
 His flying patrols over the park 

domain drew considerable attention to the Superintendent because of the variety of activities in 
which he was engaged while flying. For instance, his aerial patrols helped spot forest fires and direct 
personnel to battle them. His flights to track poachers from the air were a bit more sensational, as he 
effectively eliminated the poacher problem that had plagued the park since its inception in 1893. As 
one report put it, he made the park “too hot” for illegal trapping.

8
 Poachers were skillful at eluding 

park rangers on the ground but did not know just what to make of the new, high-flying 
Superintendent. MacDougall roamed over the wilderness at a height from which his eagle eyes could 
readily spot a set of snowshoe tracks.

9
 

In terms of his interest in flying, he was truly dedicated to honing his skills. Even though he was 
already an expert flier, MacDougall always looked for ways to improve his craft. He kept track of new 
developments in the Royal Canadian Air Force’s equipment, taking up subjects such as blind flying 
and meteorology, although they were not actually required in his daily work.

10 

In 1938, MacDougall acquired a more powerful, 
enclosed cabin airplane, the Stinson Reliant SR-10.

11
 

He used this plane for many years until corrosion 
problems were discovered in it and it was retired. 
For the remainder of his flying days, MacDougall 
piloted a De Havilland Beaver. In fact, MacDougall 
assisted in writing the design proposal for the 
aircraft and had the opportunity to fly the first ever 
Beaver.

12
 MacDougall continued to use the Beaver 

even after being promoted by Premier Mitchell 
Hepburn to Deputy Minister of Lands and Forests in 
1941. Stationed in Toronto, MacDougall was inclined 
to fret a bit at his large and busy Queen’s Park desk. 
Although his firm hand and executive abilities in the 
office were highly respected, he was basically a man 
of the bush. As a result, he seldom missed an 
opportunity to get out into the field in his trusty DH 
Beaver airplane CF-0D0, which he always kept handy 
in Toronto Bay.

13
 

As Deputy Minister, MacDougall was able to use his 
experiences from the field to help his department pioneer in developing the use of airplanes for fire 
protection, including bombing forest fires with water.

14
 He was also put in charge of overseeing the 

absorption of the Game and Fish Department into Lands and Forests in 1946.
15

 Furthermore, 
MacDougall was involved in environmental research and worked alongside John R. Dymond, a 
University of Toronto zoologist, from 1931 to 1954. The two worked together to fashion a framework 
for formal scientific research in Algonquin Park. These collaborative efforts resulted in a more 
protectionist policy for the Park, including the establishment of fisheries, wildlife, and forestry 
research facilities, the first nature reserves, and an innovative interpretive program.

16
 MacDougall 

was also influential in obtaining government support for “Project Regeneration” in 1956 and the tube 
seedling program of 1966. After a remarkable career, MacDougall retired after the planting season in 
1966,

17
 but continued to enjoy flying until he passed away on 27 June 1975.  
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MacDougall’s legacy lives on in so many ways. Memorials to MacDougall can be seen in many places 
across Ontario, including Highway 60 in Algonquin Park. The section of the road between the east 
and west gates is designated as The Frank MacDougall Parkway. There is also a memorial fellowship 
in his name at the University of Toronto. The Canadian Bushplane Heritage Centre’s exhibit in 
partnership with the Forest History Society of Ontario’s Frank A. MacDougall Memorial Project also 
aids in sustaining his legacy. Finally, the Forest History Society of Ontario launched the Frank A. 
MacDougall Forest History Trust Fund, which it established to support research into and endeavours 
to publicize Ontario’s forest history.  

MacDougall is also remembered as a dynamic individual and as the twentieth century counterpart of 
the Renaissance man. Aside from his talents in forestry and aviation, he had many hobbies and other 
interests, most connected with natural resources. He took up photography, and his colour-slide 
collection was often used for wildlife lectures. His other hobbies included angling and hunting, 
carpentry, gardening, and cooking.

18
 He also took up violin-making to see if Canadian woods were 

suitable for these instruments.
19 

In the evenings, MacDougall often put on concerts for his personnel 
after the official business was over, always having a fiddle handy in the back of his Beaver airplane. 
MacDougall was also blessed with a photographic memory, cultivating his scholarly side by reading 
widely, especially studies in military history, biography, and natural resource management. He was 
particularly interested in Napoleon Bonaparte and saw him as representing the model 
administrator.

20
 

MacDougall lived a dynamic life that was defined by varied and significant accomplishments. From 
forestry and aviation to violins and photography, MacDougall was a remarkable man. His passion for 
the environment and his colleagues and friends is evident throughout his archival documents and 
correspondences. His colleagues admired and respected him, and rightfully so. MacDougall might be 
most famous for being the first (and only) flying Superintendent of Algonquin Park, but he was also 
critical to the establishment of the Kirkwood Forest. Much has been written about MacDougall, but 
precious little has explored his connection to the Kirkwood Forest, particularly the depths of his 

personal commitment to launching the project and supporting it during its 
nascent stages. Articles about MacDougall’s career in prominent newspapers 
like The Globe & Mail, for example, do not mention these subjects, nor do most 
of his obituaries and biographies. Therefore, it is to the subject of the Kirkwood 
Forest that we turn to in the next part of this article.  

* 

Frank MacDougall’s vast professional accomplishments have been widely 
acknowledged. Alongside his achievements as an aerial forester, he was known 
to have a heart as big as the wide outdoors in which he spent so much of his 
life.

21
 MacDougall’s big heartedness was also demonstrated in his work creating 

the under-recognized Kirkwood Forest Plantation (it would be named after the 
township within which it was established). His environmental devotion enabled 
him to transform what was once referred to as the “Kirkwood Prairie” into one 
of Ontario’s most important woodlands. MacDougall truly impressed his 
superiors by promoting reforestation on such a major scale.

22 

Arguably the project’s most prominent legacy was the Giant White Pine of 
Thessalon, a 350-year-old tree in the Kirkwood Forest. The 162-foot tree was 
said to have sprouted in 1642 but was blown to the ground during a windstorm 
in 1997.

23
 As a young child, my family visited the Giant White Pine Historic Site 

on 28 July 1992. With boardwalks and informative signs guiding the way 
alongside the thick Kirkwood Forest, it was quite the experience. When 
revisiting the site thirty years later, an overgrown monument and remnants of 
the Historic Site are all that can be found; the place is practically inaccessible. 
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Erected by 
the Town of 
Thessalon 
and the MNR 
in 1989, the 
monument 
stands on the 
side of a 
gravel 
logging road 
that is not 
maintained 
by the Town 
of Thessalon. 
There are 
also no signs 
to guide you 
to the 

monument. As a result, many visitors are probably enjoying the 
beauty of the Kirkwood Forest without knowing its extraordinary 
history. The state of the Giant White Pine Historic Site is validation 
that MacDougall and the unsung story of the Kirkwood Forest 

Plantation have been ignored for far too long, and it is time to revisit the product of his hard work 
and dedication that combined to transform completely a barren landscape into a thick, coniferous 
forest.  

* 

The late 1920s was a period of great forestry activity both in government and industry.
24 

The end of 
the First World War coincided with the availability of professional foresters, and major government 
and pulp and paper industry initiatives resulted in the beginnings of forest management in the north. 
The Reforestation Act of 1921 was a kickstart, providing the opportunity for the Minister of Lands and 
Forests to enter into agreements for reforesting, managing, and developing lands held by 
municipalities. The Minister also appointed a Forestry Board in 1927, comprised of graduate 
foresters, including MacDougall.

25
 Nevertheless, the tree planting efforts focused on re-establishing 

tree cover in areas in southern Ontario that had been suffering from the ill effects of wanton 
deforestation.

26
 Although the onset of the Great Depression in the 1930s sent these reforestation 

efforts into a tailspin, the mid-1940s saw a shift in the regeneration focus to northern Ontario. In the 
late 1950s, the combining of the regeneration and timber management functions into a single 
administrative body within the Department of Lands and Forests and the introduction of mechanized 
site preparation laid the foundation for reforestation in the north. The introduction of the Forest 
Management Agreements in the 1980s truly set the effort on strong footing, one that continues to 
this day.

27
  

Luckily enough, the Kirkwood prairie benefitted immensely from Ontario’s first era of reforestation. 
By 1928, northern Ontario had been organized into Districts with Foresters in charge of them.

28
 Fire 

protection had reached a stage where some suitable areas existed in which demonstrations could be 
tried to restock areas that, through fire or clearing or some other type of disturbance, had no chance 
of reproducing naturally.

29
 This was especially true of sandy plains that existed in many districts.

30
 

The Kirkwood prairie was a prime example of this type of terrain, as the land had been cleared at the 
turn of the century to grow grain and hay to support the logging camps north of Thessalon. When 
the soft, sandy soil was depleted of its nutrients and cattle grazing replaced crop production, the 
settlers tried burning their fields to improve pasture yield. Unfortunately, the soil quality continued 
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to decline until the Kirkwood prairie was abandoned in 1920. When a circular letter went out the 
districts to suggest suitable areas for demonstration planting, MacDougall suggested the Kirkwood 
desert after spotting it from his gypsy moth plane while conducting a fire patrol in 1928. After eight 
years of abandonment, MacDougall’s aerial work was responsible for Kirkwood’s rediscovery. That 
same year, MacDougall convinced fellow forester Jack Simmons to begin a large-scale planting 
program.

31
  

MacDougall and Simmons wasted no time creating a rehabilitation plan. It began in the summer of 
1928, when conifer seedlings were planted on the site to bring the prairie back to life. It was agreed 
that Simmons would largely oversee the practical aspects of the operation alongside J.A. Gillespie, 
Chief Fire Ranger in the Blind River region at the time, who played a key role in the effort’s success 
(along with hundreds of planters, foresters, and local residents). MacDougall and his team chose 
coniferous species due to the aptitude of these species to thrive in the prairie’s sandy landscape. Red 
pine, white pine, jack pine, and white spruce were the chosen conifers. Seedlings were brought by 
rail and boat from nurseries in southern Ontario, such as St. Williams and Orono.

32
  

By November 1929, a budget was in place along with a plan for fireguards to be completed and a 
cabin to be built for the increasing number of workers in the area. A total of 970,000 trees were 
planted in 1929,

33
 leading MacDougall to push for the Kirkwood area to be designated a Provincial 

Forest. In December of that year, he wrote to Frank Sharpe, a long-time government forester and 
newly-appointed supervisor of Provincial Forests, and stressed his wish that the Kirkwood section be 
separated from the Mississagi Provincial Forest.

34
 MacDougall ensured that the former area was 

surveyed beginning in March 1930, as a team of officials was organized to locate the boundaries of 
the township and establish its central points.

35
  

After the area was surveyed and designated a Provincial Forest, the season of 1930 was the largest 
yet, with 2,170,000 seedlings planted.

36
 Simmons and MacDougall prepared for this major increase in 

production by taking steps to hire 100 men and have sufficient supplies delivered long before the 
work began in May.

37 
The season was a smashing success, with a report from December providing a 

summary of the work to date in glowing terms.
38

 It stated that the 100 men that Simmons had 
requested had been employed for a period of six weeks beginning in May 1930. More fire guards 
were ploughed in early May, with the annual $500 cost covered by the Forestry Act. The update also 
noted that the trees were doing well and the total area planted in the young plantation was now 
over 3,000 acres.

39
 Fire rangers also did meaningful work in the Kirkwood area in the spring of 1930. 

If the fire hazards were low, the fire rangers were put to work on removing trees and stumps from 
fire guards, work that had started a few years earlier.

40
 

Letters and statistics from 1930 suggest a highly successful planting season, but this success was 
almost compromised by the death of some of the planting stock on the way to Kirkwood. Luckily 
enough, replacements were sent quickly. On 10 May 1930, MacDougall wrote to the Deputy Minister 
of Forestry thanking him for “the speedy way in which replacements were made of the planting 
stock.”

41
 MacDougall also informed the Deputy Minister how the project was attracting considerable 

attention in the environs of Thessalon, and shared an idea for making future operations even 
smoother. MacDougall suggested to the Minister that “most of the planting stock in future [should] 
come up in the fall before planting begins and be heeled in at the planting sites.” Simmons had 
experimented with this practice, and it had proved successful.

42
 MacDougall’s extraordinary work was 

not going unnoticed. John Roble from the Department of Health was acutely aware of the work that 
MacDougall had been doing. Roble wrote to commend MacDougall on 18 December 1930 and 
ended his letter by applauding MacDougall’s efforts: “Your forest planting at Thessalon is a credit to 
yourself and the Department and I only hope it will continue.”

43
 

Despite the onset of the Great Depression, and the major budget cuts that the Ontario government 
implemented, the year 1931 was one of continued success for the project. Before the season began, 
Simmons and MacDougall had decided to connect the Kirkwood Plantation to the Bridgland Prairies, 
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where another planting operation was located. Bridgland Township, located right beside the 
Kirkwood Plantation, was also home to a plantation in progress, so the decision to merge the plots 
made sense. The two reforestation efforts were only separated by a handful of lots that had never 
been located or patented.

44
 Simmons had discovered plenty of planting land on the lots along Shaw 

Road, which was in the middle of the plantations,
45

 so MacDougall requested the reservation of the 
sections located in Bridgland Township.

46
 This would allow the plantation to occupy both sides of the 

road, thereby connecting the Kirkwood planting grounds with the Bridgland planting grounds. The 
extended planting grounds meant an increased number of seedlings were needed. In March 1931, 
Simmons sent MacDougall the list of trees reserved for planting that spring at the site: 1,550,000 red 
pine, 250,000 white pine, 100,000 jack pine, and 100,000 white spruce, for a grand total of 
2,000,000.

47
 Stock was also utilized from the Abitibi Power & Paper Company’s nursery near the Soo, 

with 170,000 spruce trees shipped by rail to Thessalon.
48

 These impressive numbers paired with the 
connection of the Bridgland and Kirkwood planting operations made for an extraordinary planting 
season for MacDougall and Simmons.  

After 1931, the Great Depression began to affect the continued expansion of the Kirkwood Forest, 
however, it did not halt its overall progress, and it enjoyed renewed growth during and after the 
Second World War. The volume of planting was cut in half during the 1932 season, as only 500,000 
seedlings were planted.

49
 In 1933, reports indicated that the established plantations at Kirkwood 

were progressing favourably, but no new ones were established.
50

 Planting ceased from 1933 to 
1939 and started back up in the spring of 1940, when 
1,005,650 conifers were planted at Kirkwood.

51
 The 1942 

season saw that number cut in half,
52

 but by Order-in-
Council on 2 November 1943, the Ontario government 
created the Kirkwood Forest Management Unit. It 
encompassed the townships of Kirkwood, Bridgland, 
Lefroy, Rose, Wells, and Haughton.

53
 Maps and plans were 

made for a preliminary survey of the area and to operate it 
on a sustained yield basis.

54
 By the end of the season of 

1943, a total of 6,000 acres had been restocked.
55

 
Thereafter, half a million trees were planted annually,

56
 and 

by 1959 the plantation had grown to over 20,000 acres.
57

 

The year 1959 also saw the publication of John Edmund 
Zavitz’s Fifty years of reforestation in Ontario, which 
included a special report on the Kirkwood Forest. Zavitz, 
known as Ontario’s “father of reforestation,”

58
 commented 

on Kirkwood’s impressive yields. Other Crown Land 
plantations for demonstration purposes were being 
created in the Parry Sound, North Bay, and Pembroke 
districts, yet Zavitz cited the Kirkwood example as being 
outstanding.

59
 At the time, it was felt that the Kirkwood 

Forest Management Unit would prove to the people of 
Ontario that the forests could be managed as a crop that 
could be a source of significant and perpetual revenue.

60
 In 

the Kirkwood Unit, for example, periodic thinnings for 
pulpwood and poles were beginning to generate revenue. 
Moreover, by 1959 over 15 million trees had been planted on the Unit.

61 
Zavitz’s report demonstrates 

the extended success of MacDougall’s efforts alongside his forestry team.  

The project was just the start for MacDougall, but it was one of the most significant 
accomplishments of his career. Today, no evidence of the Kirkwood prairie remains. The once vacant 
farmland has grown into one of the finest, well-developed coniferous tree plantations in Ontario. In 
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1990, the MNR named the Kirkwood Forest “Ontario’s Forest of the Year” in recognition of its 
“outstanding achievements in forest management and to all the people whose efforts created this 
important resource.”

62
 The MNR’s monument also commemorates the success of MacDougall and 

the Kirkwood Forest: 

We pay tribute to the incredible changes that man and nature can make in a lifetime. 
Bare lands that parched in summer and lay desolate in winter are now green the year 
round. Kirkwood has returned to its true destiny – the production of a forest – a living 
promise of better things to come. This forest fittingly demonstrates how the work of 
forestry staff and local residents can rebuild our forest heritage.

63
 

The story of how MacDougall transformed the Kirkwood prairie into the Kirkwood Forest is a prime 
example of his devotion to and affection for the environment. But for now, Kirkwood remains an 
unsung Historic Site, awaiting further exploration.  
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The Crow Creek Settlement 

By: George Tough 

This story began as one of a series of narratives, for my children, about my life in the prospecting 
business. I wrote the tale some years ago about our encounter, as young teenagers, with the 
residents of Crow Creek, but so many questions remained in my mind about the settlement that I 
eventually decided that we must find out more. The result is this essay, which could not have been 
written without the aid of Bill Nakashoji and his wife Doris, and many others in the Kapuskasing-
Opasatica area. 

There are, of course, many other experiences related to the settlement which ought to be recorded 
for the public to see, and I hope they are. Already, too few people, even in the area, are even aware 
that it – and the expulsions that lay behind it – ever existed. 

I hope that I have done justice to the story, and that you enjoy it. The responsibility for any errors 
(and one or two typos!) is mine. 

* * * * * 

I had a good friend in Swastika, named John Merrell. He and I often went on bush trips with our 
respective dads, who had been partners in a prospecting company in the late ‘40s and early ‘50s. 
Later, however, Dad joined Freeport Sulphur Co. as their Canadian exploration rep, and Larry joined 
the Brewis and White organisation. 

During a December (stretched) weekend in 1952, John and I got a chance to go with Dad, Jack 
Newman, and a crew of diamond drillers from Kirkland Lake to a property south of Opasatika, which 
is west of Kapuskasing, in northern Ontario, Canada. Dad and the drillers would be setting up the 
drill machine, while John and I were to do some chaining (measuring) of the picket lines on the grid 
surrounding the drill sites. 

We drove to Opasatika from Swastika, and stayed overnight at the Opasatika Hotel, which was really 
a beer parlour with a few guest rooms. It had two-storey privy-style toilets, and I can still smell them. 

An early breakfast, and we were off at first light to the Crow Creek property. It was very slow going – 
the road was rough, and there was quite a bit of fresh snow. The truck broke down several times, the 
worst of which was the result of a broken rear spring. John and I marveled at the ability of the drillers 
to make on-the-spot repairs, but still it was getting dark by the time we got to the camp. It’s a good 
thing we didn’t have to set up a tent ourselves. 

Our quarters were satisfactory, and we had lots of good food – one advantage of winter work is that 
you don’t have to worry about fresh meat spoiling. And the job we had to do was not too taxing, 
even for us teenagers. So I think we were a bit disappointed to see the trip’s end approaching. 

On the last day, John and I asked Dad if we could walk back to Opasatika, instead of waiting for a 
ride, which we already knew would be slow and rough. Dad had arranged for rooms at the hotel, and 
we would all meet up there. While the weather was cloudy, it wasn’t too cold, and we thought it 
would be a great adventure to undertake the trek. 

Dad gave his permission, though he would probably have preferred that we wait and go out with 
him. He warned me that the weather could change at any time, and told us to stay on the road – no 
wandering around. After a late lunch, we packed up our gear for the truck to bring out, and started 
out the road. I seem to remember that we wore our snowshoes, since enough snow had fallen and 
blown onto the road that it was too hard to walk without them. 

It was good going at first, and we made it more than halfway to the village in an hour and a half. 
Then it started to snow, gently at first, and then heavily, the snow in big wet flakes. The wind picked 
up till it seemed that the snow was coming almost horizontally at us, the way it appears when you’re 
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driving a car in a storm. At times, we had to judge where the road was by feel as much as by sight. It 
gets dark early up there in December, and it was clear now that we were soon going to be walking in 
the dark, in the snowstorm. 

We pressed on, pretty sure we were staying with the road, but nevertheless worried that we might 
stray from it, and mindful of the fact that going back to the camp was out of the question at that 
point. 

A while longer, and walking more slowly now, and totally covered with snow, we noticed off to our 
right, lights coming from the windows of a row of single-storey houses, banked with snow, just east 
of the road. They were quite unlike the big farmhouses that lay along the road south from the 

village. 

We decided to drop in. 
Approaching them, we saw a small 
boy carrying a yoke with pails of 
water. We asked him where he 
lived, and he pointed to one of the 
buildings. We followed him to the 
door, and knocked. 

The door opened, and what a sight 
greeted those outside and within! 
We saw a smallish room, lit by 
Coleman lamps, with hanging 
blankets apparently separating that 
room from others. And the place 
seemed to be full of Oriental 
people – men, women, children, 
more than we had ever seen in our 

whole lives. What they saw was less exotic but still a source of surprise: two strange, tall Caucasian 
teenagers covered – head to toe, the works – with wet snow, emerging from the middle of nowhere. 

One man came forward, and welcomed us in English, and asked where we were headed on such a 
night. We told him where we had come from, and where we were going. When he reported this to 
those assembled, there was a lot of oohing and aahing. He told us we were quite close to Opasatika 

now, but that we could, if we wished, 
use their telephone to call a cab, to 
take us to the hotel. This sounded 
like a good idea. He offered us tea, 
but as I recall we declined, being a 
bit intimidated by the unusual scene 
we had stumbled into. 

But our curiosity drove us to ask 
who they were and what they were 
doing there. The man told us that 
they were Japanese-Canadian 
families who had been moved away 
from the West Coast, after the 
outbreak of World War Two, and that 
the men were working in the forestry 
operations in the area. 

We left shortly thereafter by taxi, and 
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View of Crow Creek Settlement (Photo taken from the Settlement 
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soon welcomed a bit of a bath and a warm bed at the hotel. We have talked many times since our 
meeting in 1952, about why those families were still there, in such an isolated spot, seven years after 
the end of the War. We learned, of course, that their British Columbia businesses and properties had 
been confiscated, and that they were prohibited for years from returning, but it was still a mystery – 
maybe, we thought, they were saving their earnings from the pulp camps to go back eventually to 
B.C. and make a fresh start. 

A year or so ago, John and I decided to try and get some answers to the questions that have been in 
our minds for some time, despite the passage of more than a half-century since our meeting at the 
camp, which we know now as “The Crow Creek Settlement”. 

There is much material in books (both fiction and non-fiction) and on the Internet about the 
expulsion of Japanese-Canadians from the west Coast in the early 1940s. However, it deals primarily 

with either the big picture or the people in the western 
part of the compulsory movement. There is brief mention 
of the relocation centres (and the internment facility at 
Angler), in Ontario; and brief reference to the thousands 
ultimately moving on to employment and business 
opportunities in Ontario, but no specific references to the 
Crow Creek settlement. 

The only hard piece of information we located in this 
initial phase was from a set of aerial photographs, which 
confirmed that the buildings were there in 1947, and gone 
by 1960. This was welcome confirmation that, at least, we 
weren’t making it all up! 

We were also able, through friends, to speak to Japanese-
Canadians who had been in one or more of the camps 
following evacuation, but no one was aware of Crow 
Creek. Nor did we receive anything specific from the 
National Association of Japanese-Canadians, in spite of 
getting in touch with them. 

It was becoming clear that, if we were to have any chance 
of learning about Crow Creek, we needed to find the right 
people, Japanese-Canadian or not, still living in the area. 

And, sure enough, this led to our big breakthroughs. First, we were able to get from Ms. Julie Latimer 
at the Ron Morel Museum in Kapuskasing a copy of a letter that a Michi Ide had written to a student 
seeking information about the Crow Creek Settlement. Ms. Ide had been a teacher at the settlement, 
and her letter answered many of the questions we had, and raised other interesting questions 
requiring research. Unfortunately, Ms. Ide has passed away. 

It seemed plausible from her letter that there might be other Japanese-Canadians still in the area, 
who had lived in the settlement. This prompted a search by John of the telephone directory for the 
northeast Ontario region, involving some 36,000 names. This yielded only two Japanese-seeming 
names – both Nakashoji. But, as it turned out, this was enough to produce our second, and biggest, 
breakthrough. It has allowed us to piece together, in microcosm, the story from beginning to end, 
and beyond, of the Crow Creek settlement. 

And for this we are deeply indebted to Bill Nakashoji, for the information he (along with his wife 
Doris) was willing and able to provide, and the valuable local contacts he arranged – contacts like 
Alain Guindon, whose interest in local history and generosity in sharing it gave us valuable 
information and insights into the camp in its broader setting. And Bill and Alain led us to other 
sources, such as the 75

th
 anniversary book published by the Municipality of Opasatika – a 
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magnificent tribute to the originating families of the area, and “recent arrivals” such as the Japanese-
Canadians at Crow Creek. 

The following is the story of Bill Nakashoji’s family’s experience, as he remembers it, and from what 
he was told by his parents and others: Bill is only 61 years old, and would not yet have been born 
when the expulsion process began. Alain’s information, Ms. Michi’s letter, notes from an earlier 
interview with Bill’s mother, and the municipality’s 75

th
 anniversary book provided interesting and 

helpful supporting detail. 

Bill’s father, Masaji (Joseph) Nakashoji married Chiyoko Yamada in 1941. He was a logger, and she 
was a household servant, in a town on the coast of British Columbia when the initial expulsion orders 
came from the government, under authority of the War Measures Act. 

The family’s first move was to the 
Hastings Park “holding centre” in 
Vancouver, where thousands were 
assembled pending their distribution 
to “evacuation centres” in the 
interior of the province. Mrs 
Nakshojii tells what it was like: 

We brought our personal 
belongings, but we didn’t have very 
much since we were newly married 
and just starting out. There were 
other Japanese people who had so 
much to lose – boats, houses, and 
businesses. The women and children 
were forced to stay at Hastings Park. 
I didn’t know where Joe had been 
sent and I spent most of the time 
worrying about him. There were 
guards and we weren’t allowed to go 

anywhere without a pass. Later I found out that the government had sent the men to Slocan Valley 
and other locations in the Interior to build houses for their families. The wait was long and I was 
afraid.  

Apart from what they could carry, the possessions and properties of those expelled were turned over 
to the Public Trustee, supposedly for safekeeping. These included hundreds of fishing boats and 
many acres of prime farmland in the Fraser Delta. However, these were all subsequently sold off 
under dubious circumstances, and the proceeds were, it was said, used to cover the cost of housing 
and feeding the evacuees! 

In the spring of 1942, the family was reunited, and moved to an evacuation centre at Lemon Creek, a 
“ghost town” in the Slocan Valley. Although the first evacuees had to live in tents, the Nakashoji 
family was able to go into wooden buildings, some of which Bill’s father helped build. 

This was their home until the war ended. When that time came, the people in the camps were given 
a choice: “return” to Japan (many of the people involved were Canadian-born; many others were 
Canadian citizens!); or move to locations in eastern Canada (returning to their homes on the Coast 
was not a permitted option). 

Having decided to remain in Canada, the family was soon moved again, this time to a relocation 
centre at Neys (a former German prisoner-of-war camp), on Lake Superior west of Marathon, 
Ontario. 

By now, the situation had changed enough that the Japanese-Canadians were much freer to make 
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Bill Nakashoji at the Site of the Crow Creek Settlement 
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decisions about where they would work and settle, as long as they remained east of the Rockies. 
With his experience in the forest industry, Bill’s dad was naturally inclined to seek logging work, and 
he may have done so for a time near Pigeon River, Ontario, although it is unclear whether the family 
went there as well. 

The big opportunity, however, came when recruiters from Spruce Falls Power and Paper Company, 
which operated a pulp mill at Kapuskasing, came to the Neys camp in the fall of 1946, seeking bush 
workers. Some twenty families accepted the company’s offer. Bill’s mother comments: 

We were happy to go anywhere to get settled. It didn’t matter that we’d never even heard of 
Kapuskasing. A large group of us [Japanese Canadians] were going together.     

Some of the families were housed temporarily in a hotel in Hearst; others spent nearly a year at the 
Spruce Falls Camp 32, on the Opasatika River, some ten miles south of the village. Neither location 
was suitable for families (Camp 32, previously occupied by company bushworkers, was a group of 

tarpaper shacks on stilts right on the 
shore of the river, which flooded 
every spring). 

But the company provided 
schooling, at least at Camp 32, with 
Ms. Michi Ide as the teacher. And the 
company was building much better 
quarters for the newcomers, just 
south of Opasatika, in an area that 
had been settled in the 1920s by 
families coming from Quebec, 
reportedly under the auspices of the 
Catholic Church. 

Thus began the settlement of Crow 
Creek in 1947: eleven dwellings 
housing two families each; and a 
primary school with Ms. Ide and Miss 
Foster (an Anglican missionary, who 
had accompanied the group from 

Lemon Creek) teaching the Ontario curriculum, in English. Nearby 
was a Catholic school and a small general store operated by Mr. 
Isabelle. 

Two dug wells, privies, oil and wood stoves, and coal oil and 
Coleman lamps provided the household services to the 
inhabitants. There were two telephones in the camp, one of them 
in the Nakashoji house. There was a large playground and ball 
diamond – Hon. Rene Fontaine of Hearst remembers playing ball 
against the Japanese-Canadian boys from Crow Creek. 

There were many good things about the settlement (if one sets 
aside the fact that its inhabitants were forced from their former 
homes in British Columbia!). The men had steady work and 
decent wages; the families were safe and warm, albeit somewhat 
crowded; the children had wonderful recreational opportunities, 
from baseball to fishing; and the relations with the area’s 
francophone population were a pleasant surprise to the 
newcomers. There was a great deal of interaction between the 
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Miss Margaret Foster and Miss Michi 
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local children and the Japanese-Canadian students – in fact, some local children attended the Crow 
Creek school, to help them learn English. 

Over time, families began to leave the settlement. Joe and Chiyoko moved only as far as Kapuskasing 
(where they raised seven children). Several other families also remained for a time in the region. 

Others left for opportunities in 
southern Ontario, and some moved 
back to British Columbia. Joe’s father 
and mother moved to Kelowna, 
British Columbia – nearly a half-
century after being forced to leave 
their home province. Some families 
from Europe came to the camp in its 
later years. Like the original 
inhabitants of the settlement, they 
had obtained work with Spruce Falls. 
One picture in the Opasatika book 
shows Alain Guindon’s father 
teaching a European newcomer how 
to sharpen a swede saw! 

The settlement lasted until 1957, 
when the last resident moved to 
Kapuskasing. Spruce Falls removed 
the buildings, and some of them 

may still be seen in Opasatika and Kapuskasing, although they have since been modified so much 
that they are hard to identify. 

Bill believes that he is the last of the settlement left in the region – a view borne out by John’s search 
of the telephone book. His son Glen, married to a francophone, lives in Timmins; his mother, who is 
86, lives in Kelowna. 

Earlier in this story, we mentioned 
that we had used the telephone in 
1952 at Crow Creek, and then noted 
that there was a phone in the 
Nakashoji house, and that we had 
met a boy outside the house, 
carrying pails of water. You guessed 
it – the boy was Bill Nakashoji; and it 
was a great thrill for the three of us 
as we slowly realized, as the story 
unfolded, that we shared that half-
century-old link to that night at the 
Crow Creek Settlement. 

Finally, we have already mentioned 
the positive local relationships that 
existed during the life of the 
settlement, and it was a pleasure to 
see that feeling prevail today. Partly 
through his 34 years with Northern 
Telephone, Bill seems to know 
everyone in the area, and the mutual 

(Continued from page 56) 

(Continued on page 58) 

View of Crow Creek Settlement (Photo taken from the Catholic 
School) 

Sketch of the Camp Building by a former resident of house no. 3 on 
the map on the next page. 

https://devmedia.discovernikkei.org/articles/6288/Settlement2.jpg
https://devmedia.discovernikkei.org/articles/6288/Sketch.jpg
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respect and affection was very much in evidence. 

It has also been a source of wonder and admiration that in all our conversations with Japanese-
Canadian sources, we heard not a word of anger or complaint about the treatment their families 
received during that unfortunate and unwarranted suspension of their civil liberties during and after 
the Second World War. They do, however, share our view that such a thing should never happen 
again in our country. 

Many thanks to all who helped us in our search! Also, a special thanks to the Municipality of 
Opasatica, for making available illustrations from 75 ANS DE BONS SOUVENIRS. 

  

© 2016 George Tough 

 

Editor’s Note: The preceding article was originally published on the website www.discovernikkei.org, a 
website dedicated to Japanese migrants and their descendants, and is reprinted with permission. 
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Map of Crow Creek Settlement and List of Inhabitants 
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Conservation by the People 

Conservation by the People 
Arthur Herbert Richardson 
University of Toronto Press, Toronto, 1974 
 
Precis of Chapter 3: … and the Heavens Opened 
By Sherry Hambly 
 
Flooding is a natural part of nature. Early Ontario records document 
various serious floods since immigration began. Most settlements were 
built along rivers. Flooding caused much damage to these settlements. 
As an example, the Humber River, from settlement times to Hurricane 
Hazel in 1954, flooded 78 times, of which 25 were classed as severe or 
very severe events. 

Two of the largest rivers in southern Ontario, the Grand and the 
Thames, were regularly affected by floods. The people who lived along 
these rivers were the first in Ontario to plan for adequate flood control. 
These voices became more strident after severe flooding in 1912. 
Leadership to this cause was provided by a group of engineers who 

agitated for better flood control, which led to local municipalities forming the Grand River Valley 
Boards of Trade in 1931. They requested that the Ontario government establish ways and means to 
control flooding. 

In response the Ontario government asked the Ontario Hydro Electric Power Commission of Ontario 
to develop recommendations for the Grand River drainage area. The resulting Macintosh Report was 
presented to the minister of lands and forests in 1932. Representation was then made to the 
government to pass legislation to enable municipalities to proceed with the recommendations. 

The government responded by passing the Grand River Conservation Commission Act in 1932. This 
act achieved virtually nothing and was repealed when it was replaced in 1938 by another act of the 
same name. This act authorized the study of, and resulting building of, dams and reservoirs by the 
eight municipalities that were part of the Grand River drainage area. 

The first two structures built were the Shand and Luther Marsh dams with cost sharing of 37.5, 37.5 
and 25 per cent among the federal, provincial and municipal governments respectively. This cost 
sharing formula was used over the next two decades for the completion of many other flood control 
projects.  

An extremely severe flood along the Thames River in 1938 led to the same arrangement for this river 
system through the passing, in 1943, of the Act to Provide for Control of Waters in the Thames River. 
This act also authorized the creation of the Thames River Control Commission.  

In 1944 the Ontario government created the Department of Planning and Control, along with the 
Conservation Branch. The Conservation Authorities Act was passed in 1946. 

In October, 1954, Hurricane Hazel created havoc all across eastern Ontario. The greatest damage 
occurred in and around the Humber River causing the deaths of 81 people and high levels of 
damage in these categories: public properties and utilities, commercial and industrial properties, 
private properties, agriculture, parklands, flood fighting and clearing and emergency relief. The cost 
value of this damage was estimated to be 20 million dollars. 

Subsequently, the Government of Canada appointed a Commission on Hurricane Damage in Ontario 
and the Ontario Government established the Flood Homes and Building Assistance Board of Ontario 
in 1954. The Board authored a report, which remained confidential, but essentially outlined the 
conservation programmes that Conservation Authorities could carry out related to water, land use, 

(Continued on page 60) 
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forestry, wildlife and recreation. 

The Board agreed with the use of flood plain lands for recreation but did not support the building of 
dams or other structures to control flooding, instead recommending the removal of properties within 
the flood plain and letting rivers flood. The latter recommendation was vigorously opposed. 

The Board was authorized to assess damages and provide payments in recompense and to approve 
the purchase by the affected municipalities of certain lands affected by flooding. The Board was 
dissolved in 1955. 

While Hazel left behind death and destruction, it also brought important advances in conservation, 
one of which was the recognition by the public of the importance of water conservation and flood 
control. Conservationists had been promoting these concepts for a long time and Hazel was the 
catalyst to get the public to accept the need. 

Subsequently, three Conservation Authorities, the Upper Thames, the Ausable and the Metropolitan 
Toronto Region, launched corrective programmes that included the building of dams, river channel 
improvements and the acquisition of flood plain lands. Eventually reforestation and recreational 
programmes were included in the funding. Costs were shared on the past model among the federal, 
provincial and municipal governments. 

The second advance in conservation was the recognition that the management of flood plain lands 
was an integral part of flood control and needed to be protected and managed. The third advance 
was the appointment of a hydrometeorologist to the Conservation Branch. 

The work of the Conservation Branch included the following: 

- Dam design and reservoir operation to meet the multi-purpose and often incompatible use of 
water including flood control, water supply, irrigation, pollution abatement, flow maintenance 
and recreation 

- Flood forecasting supported partially through the establishment of over 100 stream gauges. 

Canada established the Water Conservation Assistance Act in 1953. From that date to 1966, the 
federal government financially supported water conservation and flood control projects and 
programmes in Ontario through a defined process of assessment, documentation, project 
management and a specified financial commitment of 37.5 per cent. In 1966 the federal government 
withdrew from this arrangement, leaving Ontario and municipalities to foot the bill, creating financial 
hardship for both. Some dams in the process of being built were eventually funded by the federal 
ARDA program. 

Between 1950 and 1970, 466 projects, large and small, were completed to support flood control and 
water conservation in Ontario. Seven of these projects were for large dams, 84 for small dams, several 
for small water reservoirs, channel improvements, river bank and valley slope stabilization and ground 
water recharging. This chapter provides a great deal of detail on the various projects that is not 
summarized here. 

The chapter ends by noting that five Conservation Authorities in northern Ontario were part of these 
efforts to conserve water and manage flooding. The total value of all projects during this 20 year 
period is estimated to be 60 million dollars. 

 

Note: The word “programmes” is used in this precis as that is the spelling used in the book. 
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